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Red 5 Limited (ABN 73 068 647 610) is listed on the
Australian Securities Exchange (ticker RED) with 1,400
shareholders. The two largest shareholders are Mathews
Capital with a 18% interest and AngloGold Ashanti Australia
Limited with a 13% interest.
The Company’s principal asset is a 90 percent beneﬁcial
interest in the Siana Gold Project in the Philippines held
under a Mineral Production Sharing Agreement.

Management discussion and analysis
Siana Gold Project (Philippines)

4

Bankable feasibility study

6

Mine site layout

8

Expansion opportunities

10

Reserves/resources

12

Financial Statements
Director’s Report

14

Income Statement

22

Balance Sheet

23

Statement of Changes in Equity

24

Statement of Cash Flows

25

Notes to the Financial Statements

26

Declaration by Directors

45

Independent Audit Report

46

A bankable feasibility study (open pit followed by an
underground mine, and modern gravity and carbon-in-leach
treatment plant) is complete. Discussions with ﬁnanciers
are advanced.
Recent exploration has identiﬁed consistent moderate grade
zinc mineralisation from approximately 250 metres vertical.
AngloGold Ashanti, under a strategic alliance has elected to
proceed to joint ventures on two tenements areas, namely
Outer Siana and Mapawa. They may earn up to a 75 percent
interest from Red 5 through staged exploration expenditure
on each totaling US$10.5 million.
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A significant year with the declaration of our
first reserve, our first underground resource and
a new revenue dimension – the future production
of zinc concentrate.

Open pit ore reserve
3.07Mt at 3.40 g/t Au,
8.5 g/t Ag

Underground
Inferred Resource
2.95Mt at 7.4 g/t Au,
13.1 g/t Ag
Result post resource estimate
SMDD111, 7m at 11.7 g/t Au,
21.3 g/t Ag, 5.8% Zn
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Red 5 has invested over $16 million to advance the Siana gold project in the last
five years. During the year under review key decisions were made and important
developments achieved.
As the year commenced, the development of a deep open pit mine was discounted. Although
technically and financially viable, this option necessitated the purchase of substantial additional
land for an extended waste rock dump.. This was deemed to be difficult to deliver with certainty
in a reasonable time frame.
A smaller, but higher grade open pit was therefore engineered with all infrastructure within the
original mine footprint. However, the shorter mine life, whilst still viable, did not represent an
overwhelmingly compelling investment case when viewed against the US$60 million in capital
cost to first gold pour.
The Company subsequently pursued an underground option (where waste and tailings can be
used for backfill), encouraged by drill hole SMDD105 intersection of 144 metres at 5.8 g/t gold.
Within the intersection were two high grade intervals – 8 metres at 25.5 g/t and 28 metres at
10.1 g/t. A closer review of holes below the proposed pit bottom identified similar higher grade
panels and lead to the inaugural declaration of an underground Inferred Resource - 2.9 million
tonne at 7.4g/t gold. The last hole in the initial underground drill programme, SMDD 111
(interval 7 metres at 11.7 g/t gold and 5.8% zinc) was completed after the resource estimation.
The net result was declaration by the Board of a preferred development option, named the
“Accelerated Case”, with a gold production and net present value, two and a half times and four
times respectively greater than the high grade open pit only scenario. In the Accelerated Case
(Base Case but with underground operations overlapping open pit operations for two years)
the life of mine cash cost is US$309 per ounce and the average annual gold production is
123,000 ounces during the overlap phase.
The exciting element to the project is the further upside enhancement possibilities to build on the
already robust project internal rate of return calculated at 49 per cent for a US$650 per ounce
gold price.
In parallel with financing arrangements, the Company has embarked on further drilling of the
initial proposed underground levels which may result in the current conservative underground
mining rate of 300,000 tonne per annum being substantially increased and potentially doubled.
With this outcome gold production would remain above 100,000 ounces per annum from project
year three and co-production of zinc in concentrate could reach 10 million lbs per anum.
Both scenarios deliver stronger financials.
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Our commitment to the local community continued unabated with the provision of potable water
to the 3,500 inhabitants in the adjacent villages, a doctor and dental clinic plus staff, a nutrition
programme for young children, support for schools and two new playgrounds.
Our entire focus for the year was Siana-centric. We sold the equity position in Romarco Minerals
at a small profit to book value and ceased Tien Shan gold belt activities within Asia Gold Limited,
due to uncertainty over land tenure. Barrick also withdrew from the Montague JV, our only other
tenement position, after two deep holes failed to intersect targeted mineralisation.
Given the small executive team at our disposal during the year the performance of the executive
directors on technical aspects of the project is commendable, although in common with most
shareholders, they were frustrated by the lack of progress on the Mapawa MPSA grant which
in turn delayed commencement of exploration under the AngloGold Ashanti joint venture
During the year, Nicholas Smith, Chairman for the previous five years retired from the Board.
It was my privilege to be elected to the vacant position and, in accordance with good Corporate
Governance, simultaneously relinquished the Chair positions of the Audit and Remuneration
Committees, although I remain a member of both.
Gary Scanlan, who joined the Board after last year’s Annual Meeting was elected to the Chair
of the Audit Committee and Peter Rowe, who has been on the Board for three years was elected
Chair of the Remuneration Committee. Mr Scanlan, in addition to his counsel on financial matters,
made major contributions to the methodical review of all our Governance statements and policies.
And finally, the Board and Management acknowledge the loyalty and patience of our many long
term shareholders. We also recognise the addition of two significant institutions and a well known
mining entity to the share register, and trust the coming year will deliver solid progress on mine
construction and share price performance.

Colin G Jackson
Chairman
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Siana Gold Project (Philippines)
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Red 5 – 90 percent beneficial interest

Following execution of a Joint Venture Heads of Agreement
in June 2002 the Company has signiﬁcantly advanced
towards development of the gold resource at Siana,
located in Northern Mindanao.

The project area is located ﬁve km south-east of the worldclass Boyongan porphyry copper-gold (15 million ounce gold
equivalent) discovery made by the Anglo American-Philex
Gold Joint Venture.

Red 5 is manager of the joint venture through Greenstone
Resources Corporation, a Philippine registered wholly
owned subsidiary.

Siana covers 12 km of strike of the Surigao Valley Fault, the
same regional structure with which Boyongan is associated.

The Philippine joint venture partner is Merrill Crowe
Corporation, an associated company of First Metro
Investment Corporation, a division of Metrobank, the
largest bank in the Philippines.
Red 5 expenditure on exploration and on-going evaluation
totals $16.4 million with a further $2.2 million incurred to
increase beneﬁcial interest from 80 percent to 90 percent
in August 2006. At the date of this report, the MPSA title
transfer from the former joint venture partner to Merrill
Crowe Corporation is still pending.
Red 5 has a 90% economic interest in the project and
is progressing towards project ﬁnancing. The economic
interest is secured through a corporate structure which
complies with Philippine foreign ownership laws, and in
particular, the requirement which limits non Philippine
ownership of ‘patrimony’ property to no more than 40%.

Project management
Project Management is the direct responsibility of Red 5
executive directors, Mr Greg Edwards and Mr Lance Govey.
In addition, two experienced in-house consultants,
Mr Geoff Jones (Project Manager) and Mr Paul Odd
(Mining Engineer) were contracted to provide overall
on-going planning, co-ordination and mining advice.
Specialist groups contracted to various elements of the
bankable feasibility study include:
Hellman & Schoﬁeld
Resource estimation and audit
RSG Global (now Coffey)
Optimisation, mine & waste dump design, scheduling
Intermet Engineers
Process plant design and site infrastructure

Location and logistics

Golder Associates
Tailings storage facility design

The project covers an area of approximately 39 km2 focused
around the former Siana Gold Mine in the established gold
mining province of Surigao del Norte.

Mining One Pty Ltd
Geotechnical assessment, review and recommendation

Excellent infrastructure includes nearby grid power, easy
access from National Highway One, a large cement factory,
two ports and modern mobile phone network coverage.
The mine-site is located 30 km south of the major regional
centre and shipping port of Surigao City. The local airport
has regular ﬂights to Manila International Airport. The
province is stable, with a predominantly Christian
population.

Meyer Water & Environmental Solutions
Hydrology and Hydrogeology
BMP Environment & Community Care Inc
Environmental and Community

Local government and community leaders, familiar with
the long history of gold mining in the area have indicated
their support for a new development.
Another advantage is the availability of experienced
personnel, many of whom were employed at the mine
when it closed prematurely in 1990.
Siana is located in a richly endowed mineral ﬁeld with
many epithermal gold systems and several known porphyry
copper-gold deposits.
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Existing Open Pit

Bankable Feasibility
Open pit Design
Decline design
Underground stoping
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Bankable feasibility study
Base case

Mine design and implementation

The study completed late June 2007 indicated both a
technical and ﬁnancially viable project:

The existing ﬂooded pit is estimated to contain
8.2 gigalitres (Gl) of benign water. Groundwater inﬂows
and rainfall are estimated at 6.8 Gl per year. Pit dewatering
will occur in two stages using in-pit pumps and external
bores. Stage one will see progressive dewatering of the
pit ahead of pre-production waste cut-back, using pontoon
mounted electric drive pumps, with power from the main
grid. Bores will also extract an estimated 3.2 Gl per year
from the southern end limestone unit, which based on
historic records is the main source of groundwater inﬂow.
Smaller bores will be installed to depressurise and stabilise
the eastern wall.

The project proposal (Base Case) comprises an open pit
mine followed by an underground mine.
A production rate of 750,000 tonnes per annum during the
open pit phase and 300,000 tonnes per annum during the
underground operation is proposed in the ﬁnance model.
Key technical and ﬁnancial parameters are:
■

12 year mine life

■

LOM production 720,000 ounces gold

■

Cash cost US$330 per ounce

■

Total cost US$406 per ounce

■

IRR of 38% at US$650 per ounce

■

NPV of US$87 million

Resource/reserve
The open pit phase is based on a JORC compliant
Probable Reserve of 3.16 million tonnes at 3.4 g/t gold
and 8.5 g/t silver.
The underground phase is based on an Inferred Resource
of 2.95 million tonnes at 7.4 g/t gold and 13.4 g/t silver.
The overall mineral resource is 6.26 million tonnes at
5.3 g/t gold and 10.8 g/t silver for an in situ 1.06 million
ounces of gold and 2.18 million ounces of silver.
The open pit resource was estimated by Hellman and
Schoﬁeld using Multiple Indicator Kriging.
The underground resource estimate is derived by
wireframe model within a nominal greater than 2 g/t gold
outline using 23 drill hole intersections. Red 5 considers
the mineralisation can be classiﬁed as Inferred based on
the JORC Code, and in particular, that all data is generated
using reliable industry standard sampling procedures and
quality control techniques. Red 5 conﬁdence is further
predicated on the continuity and accurate predictability of
the deep mineralization.
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An open pit mine design was completed by RSG Global.
The proposal includes a 1:8 pit ramp slope to a maximum
depth of 215 metres below surface. The ramp is located
wholly on the west side to beneﬁt from superior
geotechnical circumstances and exits in the north west
corner to minimise haul distances to the ROM stockpile
and waste dump.
Pit benches will be blasted in 6 metre lifts and excavated
in 3 metre lifts using hydraulic excavators. The haul ﬂeet
will comprise 6 WD articulated trucks due to the level of
natural rainfall.
The mine cost assumes owner operator with maintenance
on a contract basis and augmentation of the ﬂeet during the
pre-strip by contractor.
The underground mine design and scoping study is based
on up-hole benching. Stoping will take place from four
lenses, three of which extend over the majority of the
300 metre strike length. Stope panels were designed with
a strike length of 30 metres separated by ﬁve metre rib
pillars for support.
The recoverable mineralisation inventory after dilution
and mine recovery factors are applied is estimated at
2.21 million tonnes at 6.4 g/t gold and 11.5 g/t silver.
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Process plant flow sheet
The design comprises crushing, grinding, gravity separation
and carbon-in-leach (CIL) followed by electrowinning
and smelting.
The optimum grind size based on gravity and cyanide leach
test work is 75 microns with approximately 34% gold
recovery to gravity concentrate. Final recovery in the leach
circuit is dependent on the mill feed grade as gold and
silver in tailings is relatively constant at 0.49 g/t gold and
2.1 g/t silver.
The majority carbonate ore is relatively soft with a Bond
ball and rod mill index of 8.7 and 13.0 KWh/t respectively.
The basalt ore is harder. Based on a blended mill feed
charge, a single stage SAG mill circuit has been chosen.
Design considerations identiﬁed a variable speed drive
motor with 2,400 kW installed as appropriate.

Operating cost
Open Pit

Underground

LOM

Mining

13.68

38.14

25.41

Processing

10.13

14.89

11.96

Administration

3.66

9.49

6.04

Royalties

1.54

3.25

2.33

29 . 01

65.77

45.24

307

344

330

Total US$/t
US$/oz

Capital cost
The total direct and indirect LOM cost of the project
(that is to completion of the underground phase) is
US$78.2 million, inclusive of provisions (US$10.7 million).
Due to the scoping nature of the underground study, all
costs were also weighted with a 20% escalation.

A suitably sized mill was secured last year.
CIL cyanidation is employed due to minor amounts
of ‘preg robbing’ natural carbon in the ore.
Philippine environmental regulations require water
discharge from the lease to contain less than 0.2 mg/litre
free cyanide. Accordingly, the tailings stream will be subject
to S02 /Air detoxifaction.

Process plant detail design.
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Mine site layout
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Waste dump

Mine and
Infrastructure
layout overlain
Open pit
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Expansion opportunities
A number of expansion or accelerated production scenarios
are at various stages of review.

The Base Case underground production rate is 300,000
tonnes per annum. On a tonnes per vertical metre
basis a higher production rate is feasible. Before a higher
underground production or a change in production sequence
could be formally adopted, in-ﬁll drilling, particularly in
the 200 to 350 metre vertical horizon is required. The
objective is to elevate this part of the ore body to Indicated
Resource status thereby allowing a Probable Reserve
to be estimated and the possibility of commencing
underground mining in conjunction with open pit mining
can be assessed. Additional detailed exploration drilling
from surface to below 400 metres is not immediately
contemplated due to drilling cost, however, once the
pit is de-watered such possibilities can be evaluated.

Further potential exists for the co-production of zinc
concentrate. Below approx. 280 metres vertical from
surface the ore consistently exhibits grades above
1.5% zinc. Test work has commenced, and whilst only
at a preliminary stage, there is every expectation that
a saleable zinc concentrate at recoveries close to
90% can be produced.
The most probable ﬂow sheet would be similar to the
gold silver ore circuit, that is gravity followed by CIL
but with the addition of ﬂotation immediately after the
gravity circuit. The zinc concentrate is also cyanided
to recover gold associated with minor copper and
carbonaceous material present in the ore which also
reports to this product. Minor lead in the ore reports
to the gravity concentrate and may be subsequently
recoverable although the tonnage is not signiﬁcant.
Modiﬁcations to the process plant layout will include
rougher and cleaner ﬂotation cells, a concentrate
thickener and ﬁlter, reagent make-up tanks and metering
system. These will be incorporated in the ﬁnal detailed
design phase.

Vertical depth (m)

Hole SMDD

Intersection (m)

Grade Gold (g/t)

Silver (g/t)

Zinc (%)

200

063

3

40.8

72.1

3.0

200

108

17

9.5

7.1

1.2

210

002

4

3.4

10.8

2.4

260

105

3

26.5

36.5

2.9

300

111

7

11.7

21.3

5.8

300

107

3

12.9

33.5

1.5

300

110

2

20.4

32.1

3.5

Notes: Vertical depth is below current pit bottom.
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SMDD111 intersection occurred post compilation of underground resource tonnes and grade estimate.
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A further scenario is the integration of Mapawa material
(once granted). An internal review of historic drilling
indicates a potential of 3 to 4 million tonnes at grades
between 1.7 and 2.5 g/t. The mineralisation is highly
oxidised and at surface. The crushing and grinding
equipment has adequate capacity to simultaneously mill
open pit, underground and soft Mapawa ore leading to
accelerated production proﬁles and simultaneously beneﬁt
from economies of scale.

Each of these scenarios will improve the production
proﬁle, lower operating cost per ounce and accordingly
improve the ﬁnancial returns.
Production proﬁles of greater than 100,000 ounces per
annum after project year two are feasible.

Mapawa tenement (MPSA grant awaited) near surface mineralisation.
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Reserves/resources
Grade glt

Contained ounces

JORC category

Tonnes

Gold

Silver

Gold

Silver

Indicated

3,072,000

3.4

8.5

336,200

839,900

Inferred

156,000

2.9

13.6

14,500

68,200

Total

3,229,000

3.4

8.7

350,700

908,200

Inferred

2,951,000

7.4

13.1

702,800

1,246,300

Stockpiles

Indicated

83,000

1.3

10.7

3,500

28,500

Overall total

Indicated

3,156,000

3.3

8.6

339,700

868,400

Resource area
Open pit

Underground

Inferred

3,107,000

7.2

13.2

717,300

1,314,500

Total

6,263,000

5.3

10.8

1,057,000

2,183,000

Notes: Figures are 100% of project. The estimates of Identiﬁed Mineral Resources shown in the table above have been
prepared as per the JORC Code guidelines for reporting Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.
The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources for the open pit is based on information compiled by
Hellman and Schoﬁeld Pty Ltd using the method of Multiple Indicator Kriging. Only these Resources contained within
the Feasibility open pit design are tabulated.
The information in this report that relates to Mineral Resources for the underground is based on information compiled
by Mr Allen L Govey and Mr Gregory C Edwards, who are full-time employees of Red 5 Limited and are Members of
The Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.
Mr Govey and Mr Edwards have sufﬁcient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit
under consideration and to the activity that they are undertaking to qualify as Competent Person(s) as deﬁned in
the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Mr Govey and
Mr Edwards consent to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on their information in the form and context
in which it appears.
Grade glt
JORC category

Tonnes

Gold

Open pit

Probable

3,073,000

Stockpiles

Probable

83,000

Total

3,156,000

Reserve area

Contained ounces

Silver

Gold

Silver

3.4

8.5

336,200

839,900

1.3

10.7

3,500

28,500

10.7

8.6

339,700

868,400

Notes: Within the open-pit design there are additional Inferred Resources amounting to 156,000 tonnes at 2.9 g/t gold and
13.6 g/t silver containing 14,500 ounces gold and 68,200 ounces of silver. Under the JORC Code guidelines this
material is not included in the Ore Reserve and is summarily classiﬁed as waste.
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Director’s Report
The directors of Red 5 Limited (“Red 5” or “parent entity”) present their report on the results and state of affairs of the parent entity
and the consolidated entity for the financial year ended 30 June 2007.

Directors
The names of the directors of Red 5 in office during the course of the financial year and at the date of this report are as follows:
Colin George Jackson
Gregory Charles Edwards
Allen Lance Govey
Peter William Rowe
Gary Francis Scanlan (appointed on 23 November 2006)
Nicholas James Smith (resigned on 30 April 2007)
Unless otherwise indicated, all directors held their position as a director throughout the entire financial year and up to the date of this
report.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of Red 5 and the consolidated entity (which includes the controlled entities of Red 5) during the financial year
were mineral exploration and evaluation. There was no significant change in the nature of these activities during the year.

Results of Operations
The net loss of the consolidated entity after provision for income tax $1,376,824.

Review of Operations
During the year exploration and evaluation activities continued on the Siana gold project located in the Philippines. Comprehensive
technical studies were undertaken as part of a bankable feasibility study for the development of the Siana project. Completion of the
feasibility study was extended to include an assessment of the potential for an underground extension of gold mineralisation below
an open pit operation. Discussions commenced with banking and other institutions for debt facilities and equity financing for
development of the Siana project. The consolidated entity purchased a second hand grinding mill plus strategic spares for the Siana
project, for a total cost of $1,744,979 (US$1,330,000).
Red 5 secured a finance facility of $2,000,000 from a financial institution to fund the Siana bankable feasibility study and to refinance
the purchase of the grinding mill. The facility is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets of Red 5 and is repayable on the
earlier of 31 December 2009 or project financing for the Siana project.
In September 2006, AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited (AngloGold) gave formal notice of its election to farm-in to and earn an
interest in the regional area of the Siana project (excluding the Siana mine development area). AngloGold has the right to earn up to a
75% interest in the consolidated entity’s percentage interests in the Outer Siana and Mapawa project areas, by expenditure of up to
US$10.5 million within a period of four years from completion of the minimum expenditure period.
Mr Gary Scanlan was appointed as a non-executive director of Red 5 in November 2006. Mr Scanlan has over 20 years experience in
the mining industry preceded by 10 years experience with PricewaterhouseCoopers. Mr Nicholas Smith retired as chairman of Red 5
in April 2007.
In December 2006, Red 5 raised $2.2 million (before expenses) in equity capital through a private share placement of 22,000,000
ordinary shares at a subscription price of 10 cents each, to clients of Shaw Stockbroking Limited.
The directors are continuing to evaluate other resources projects and corporate opportunities in which the consolidated entity may
participate.

Dividends
No amounts were paid by way of dividend since the end of the previous financial year. The directors do not recommend the payment
of a dividend.
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Likely Developments
During the course of the next financial year, the consolidated entity will continue its mineral exploration and development activities
and will investigate additional resources projects in which the consolidated entity may participate.
In the opinion of the directors there is no additional information available as at the date of this report on any likely developments
which may materially affect the operations of the consolidated entity and the expected results of those operations in subsequent
years.

Options Granted Over Unissued Shares
At the date of this report, 12,500,000 ordinary fully paid shares which are subject to options were unissued. These options are
exercisable at 17 cents each on or before 30 June 2008.
Details of options issued and exercised during the financial year are contained in Note 15(c) to the financial report. All options issued
were fully vested.
No person entitled to exercise the options has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the parent entity or
any other corporation.

Signiﬁcant Changes
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity during the financial year were as follows:
(a)

the parent entity raised $2,200,000 before expenses through a share placement of 22,000,000 ordinary shares at a subscription
price of 10 cents per share.

(b)

the parent entity secured a finance facility of $2,000,000 from a financial institution to fund the Siana bankable feasibility study
and the purchase of a grinding mill.

(c)

the preliminary results of a feasibility study for the development of the Siana project were announced in April 2007.

(d)

AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited gave formal notice of its election to farm-in to and earn an interest in the regional area
of the Siana project (excluding the Siana mine development area).

Events Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year
Significant events which have occurred subsequent to the end of the financial year are set out in Note 28 to the financial report.

Information on Directors
Director

Qualifications, experience and special responsibilities

Colin G Jackson
(Non-Executive Chairman)

M.Sc., B.Sc. (Hons), DIC, Grad. Dip. Bus. Admin.
A director since December 2003. Mr Jackson graduated as a mineral process design
engineer and spent 10 years with Selection Trust Limited and RGC Group, followed by a
12 year finance career with McIntosh Securities Limited and 10 years corporate/
communications responsibility with Newcrest Mining and Normandy Mining. Mr Jackson is
a member of the audit and remuneration committees. Other current directorships: Intrepid
Mines Limited (since December 2003). Former directorships in the last three years:
Terramin Australia Limited (August 2003 to December 2005).

Gregory C Edwards
(Managing Director)

B.Sc. (Hons), MAusIMM
A director since November 2001. Mr Edwards is a geologist with over 20 years experience.
He has a broad gold and base metals exploration and development background, spending
13 years with the Normandy Mining group, holding various positions including Exploration
Manager – Western Australia and Manager – Business Analysis, where he focussed on
commercial evaluations of potential project and corporate acquisitions. Mr Edwards has
not held directorships in any other listed companies in the last 3 years.
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Director’s Report
Information on Directors (continued)
Director
Allen L Govey
(Exploration Director)

Qualifications, experience and special responsibilities

B.Sc. (Hons), M.Sc., MAusIMM
A director since November 2001. Mr Govey is a senior geologist with wide ranging
exploration and mining geology experience within Australia and Indonesia. He has been
involved with the successful exploration and mining of Archean lode gold deposits for the
last 16 years. Mr Govey spent 12 years with the Normandy Mining group, including as
Principal Geologist responsible for project generation and evaluation of new business
opportunities within Western Australia. Mr Govey has not held directorships in any other
listed companies in the last 3 years.

Peter W Rowe
(Non-Executive Director)

B.Sc. (Chem Eng), FAusIMM, MAICD
A director since October 2004. Mr Rowe spent 20 years with Anglo American and De
Beers in South Africa before moving to Australia. He has held a number of senior
managerial positions in Australia, including Project Director of the Kalgoorlie Super Pit
(Fimiston) expansion and General Manager of the Boddington Gold Mine and of the
Boddington Expansion Project. Mr Rowe is currently an executive officer of AngloGold
Ashanti Limited, in charge of its corporate technical group. He is a past chairman of the
Australian Gold Council. Mr Rowe is a member of the audit committee and chairman of
the remuneration committee.

Gary F Scanlan
(Non-Executive Director)

CA
A director since November 2006. Mr Scanlan has over 20 years experience in the mining
industry preceded by 10 years experience with PricewaterhouseCoopers. His previous
roles include Executive General Manager – Finance for Newcrest Mining Limited. Mr
Scanlan is currently Managing Director of Castlemaine Goldfields Limited (since June
2005), a gold exploration company based in Victoria. Mr Scanlan is chairman of the audit
committee and a member of the remuneration committee. Mr Scanlan has held no other
directorships in any other listed companies in the last 3 years.

Information on Company Secretary
Frank J Campagna B.Bus (Acc), CPA
Company Secretary of Red 5 since June 2002. Mr Campagna is a Certified Practicing Accountant with over 20 years
experience as Company Secretary, Financial Controller and Commercial Manager for listed resources and industrial
companies. He presently operates a corporate consultancy practice which provides corporate secretarial and advisory
services to both listed and unlisted companies.
Details of directors’ interests in the securities of the parent entity as at the date of this report are as follows:
Director

Fully paid shares

Options

C G Jackson

225,000

-

G C Edwards

8,000,000

-

A L Govey

6,786,500

-

P W Rowe

-

-

G F Scanlan

-

-

Mr Rowe is a director of AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited which owns 40,171,875 fully paid shares in Red 5.
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Meetings of Directors
The number of meetings of the Board of Directors of Red 5 and of each Board committee held during the year ended 30 June 2007
and the number of meetings attended by each director whilst in office are as follows:
Board meetings

Audit committee

Remuneration committee

Number
held

Number
attended

Number
held

Number
attended

Number
held

Number
attended

C G Jackson

6

6

2

2

1

1

G C Edwards

6

6

A L Govey

6

6

P W Rowe

6

6

2

2

1

1

G F Scanlan

5

5

1

1

1

1

N J Smith

4

4

1

1

Remuneration Report
This report sets out the current remuneration arrangements for directors and executives of Red 5.

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (audited)
Directors and executives remuneration
Overall remuneration policies are determined by the Board and are adapted to reflect competitive market and business conditions.
Within this framework, the remuneration committee considers remuneration policies and practices generally, and determines
specific remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive directors and senior management. Executive
remuneration and other terms of employment are reviewed annually by the committee having regard to performance, relevant
comparative information and expert advice.
Red 5’s remuneration policy for executive directors and senior management is designed to promote superior performance and long
term commitment to Red 5. Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain executives capable of
managing Red 5’s Australian and overseas operations. Executive directors receive a base remuneration which is market related,
together with performance based remuneration linked to the achievement of pre-determined milestones and targets.
Red 5’s remuneration policies are designed to align executive’s remuneration with shareholders’ interests and to retain appropriately
qualified executive talent for the benefit of Red 5. The main principles of the policy are:
–

reward reflects the competitive market in which Red 5 operates;

–

individual reward should be linked to performance criteria; and

–

executives should be rewarded for both financial and non-financial performance.

The structure of remuneration packages for executive directors and other senior executives comprises:
–

a fixed sum base salary payable monthly in cash;

–

short term incentives through eligibility to participate in a performance bonus scheme if deemed appropriate;

–

long term incentives through executive directors being eligible to participate in share option schemes with the prior approval
of shareholders. Other executives may also participate in employee share option schemes, with any option issues generally
being made in accordance with thresholds set in plans approved by shareholders. The Board considers it appropriate to retain
the flexibility to issue options to executives outside of approved employee option plans in appropriate circumstances; and

–

other benefits, including participation in superannuation schemes.

The proportion of fixed and variable remuneration is established for each executive director by the remuneration committee.
The objective of short term incentives is to link achievement of Red 5’s operational targets with the remuneration received by
executives charged with meeting those targets. The objective of long term incentives is to reward executives in a manner which
aligns this element of their remuneration with the creation of shareholder wealth.
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Director’s Report
Performance incentives may be offered to executive directors and senior management of Red 5 through the operation of performance
bonus schemes. A completion bonus or a performance bonus, based on a percentage of annual salary, may be payable upon
achievement of agreed operational milestones and targets.
Non-executive directors’ remuneration
In accordance with current corporate governance practices, the structure for the remuneration of non-executive directors and
senior executives is separate and distinct. Shareholders approve the maximum aggregate remuneration for non-executive
directors. The remuneration committee recommends the actual payments to directors and the Board is responsible for ratifying any
recommendations. Non-executive directors are entitled to statutory superannuation benefits. The Board approves any consultancy
arrangements for non-executive directors who provide services outside of and in addition to their duties as non-executive directors.
Non-executive directors may be entitled to participate in equity based remuneration schemes. Shareholders must approve the
framework for any equity based compensation schemes and if a recommendation is made for a director to participate in an equity
scheme, that participation must be specifically approved by the shareholders.
All directors are entitled to have premiums on indemnity insurance paid by Red 5.

Details of remuneration (parent entity and consolidated entity)
The following table discloses details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each director of Red 5 and
each of the officers receiving the highest emoluments and other key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2007.
The information in this table has been audited.
2007

Short term

Post-employment

Other

Salary or
directors
fees

Cash
bonuses

Consulting
fees

Provisions

Superannuation

Retirement
benefits
provided for

Insurance
premiums

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

G C Edwards

240,804

-

-

41,427

23,728

-

4,666

310,625

A L Govey

194,300

-

-

41,763

19,500

-

4,667

260,230

Name

Directors
Executive directors

Non-executive directors
C G Jackson

37,500

-

78,561

-

3,375

-

4,667

124,103

P W Rowe

35,000

-

-

-

3,150

-

4,667

42,817

G F Scanlan

21,240

-

-

-

1,912

-

4,667

27,819

N J Smith

41,666

-

65,000

-

3,750

-

4,666

115,082

-

-

72,050

-

-

-

-

72,050

570,510

-

215,611

83,190

55,415

-

28,000

952,726

Other executives
F J Campagna
Total

Provisions include amounts provided for in the financial report for annual and long service leave entitlements and a completion bonus.
Other than directors of Red 5, there were no other executive officers of the consolidated entity during the year, with the exception
that the company secretary is deemed to be an executive by virtue of being an officer of the parent entity.
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2006

Name

Short term

Post-employment

Other

Salary or
directors
fees

Cash
bonuses

Consulting
fees

Provisions

Superannuation

Retirement
benefits
provided for

Insurance
premiums

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Directors
Executive directors
G C Edwards

256,629

16,286

-

86,004

25,487

-

5,650

390,056

A L Govey

195,000

24,000

-

74,905

21,900

-

5,650

321,455

Non-executive directors
N J Smith

47,500

-

78,000

-

5,175

21,811

5,650

158,136

C G Jackson

32,500

-

94,200

-

3,488

-

5,650

135,838

P W Rowe

32,500

-

-

-

4,425

-

5,650

42,575

-

-

69,850

-

-

-

-

69,850

564,129

40,286

242,050

60,475

21,811

28,250

Other executives
F J Campagna
Total

160,909

1,117,910

Information on any benefits received by directors of Red 5 by reason of a contract made by the consolidated entity with a director
or a director-related entity is contained in Note 18 of the financial report.
During the financial year, Red 5 paid premiums of $28,000 to insure the directors and other officers of the consolidated entity.
The liabilities insured are for costs and expenses that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be
brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the consolidated entity.

Service agreements
The terms of employment for executive and non-executive directors are being formalised in new service agreements. Major
provisions of the agreements relating to duration and termination are set out below. This information has been audited.
G C Edwards – Managing Director
Term of agreement:
2 years from 1 July 2007.
Remuneration:
base salary plus 10% superannuation contributions, to be reviewed annually by the remuneration committee.
Performance bonus: up to 50% of annual salary upon the achievement of agreed milestones and targets.
Termination provisions: payment upon early termination by the Company (other than for unsatisfactory performance, gross
misconduct or long term incapacity) equal to the annual salary.
A L Govey – Exploration Director
Term of agreement:
2 years from 1 July 2007.
Remuneration:
base salary plus 10% superannuation contributions, to be reviewed annually by the remuneration committee.
Performance bonus: up to 50% of annual salary upon the achievement of agreed milestones and targets.
Termination provisions: payment upon early termination by the Company (other than for unsatisfactory performance, gross
misconduct or long term incapacity) equal to the annual salary.

Share-based compensation
The Board has adopted the Red 5 Employee Option Plan (Plan). The primary purposes of the Plan are to increase the motivation of
employees, promote the retention of employees, align employee interests with those of Red 5 and its shareholders and to reward
employees who contribute to the growth of Red 5. At the annual general meeting held on 24 November 2004, shareholders
authorised the issue of options under the Plan. To date, no options have been issued under the Plan.
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Non-Audit Services
During the year, Red 5’s external auditors, KPMG, have provided other services in addition to their statutory audit function. Non-audit
services provided by the external auditors comprised $40,000 for taxation advisory services. Further details of remuneration of the
auditors are set out in Note 19.
The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the year and is satisfied that the provision of those services is
compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act and did not compromise the
auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act, for the following reasons:
–

all non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance guidelines adopted by Red 5;

–

non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure that they do not impact the impartiality or objectivity
of the auditor; and

–

the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in
Professional Statement F1, Professional Independence, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work,
acting in a management or decision making capacity, acting as an advocate for Red 5 or jointly sharing economic risks and
rewards.

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act is included immediately
following the Directors’ Report and forms part of the Directors’ Report.

Environmental Regulations
The consolidated entity is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its mineral exploration activities. These
obligations are regulated under relevant government authorities within Australia and overseas. The consolidated entity is a party
to exploration and development licences and has beneficial interests in Mineral Production Sharing Agreements. Generally, these
licences and agreements specify the environmental regulations applicable to exploration and mining operations in the respective
jurisdictions. The consolidated entity aims to ensure that it complies with the identified regulatory requirements in each jurisdiction
in which it operates.
Compliance with environmental obligations is monitored by the Board of Directors. No environmental breaches have been notified
to the consolidated entity by any government agency during the year ended 30 June 2007.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

A L Govey
Director
Perth, Western Australia
27 September 2007
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
To the directors of Red 5 Limited
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 30 June 2007,
there have been:
(i)

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit; and

(ii)

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

KPMG
B C Fullarton
Partner
Perth, 28 September 2007
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Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2007
CONSOLIDATED
NOTE

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

Revenue from continuing operations
Revenue

-

Other income
Total revenue

2

-

-

-

11,969

15,365

11,969

15,365

11,969

15,365

11,969

15,365

(25,418)

(31,509)

(25,418)

(31,509)

(727,799)

(814,088)

(727,799)

(814,088)

(100,905)

(413,974)

(100,174)

(2,323)

Expenses
Amortisation and depreciation expenses
Employee and consultancy expenses

2

Exploration expenditure impairment
Foreign currency translation adjustment

-

-

(2,162,617)

Impairment in investments

-

-

-

Impairment in loans

-

(731)

(11,508)

Occupancy expenses

(119,681)

(106,638)

(119,681)

(106,638)

Regulatory expenses

(106,214)

(119,497)

(106,214)

(119,497)

Other expenses

(216,818)

(146,072)

(216,818)

(249,891)

(1,284,866)

(1,616,413)

(3,447,483)

(1,588,372)

303,670

59,478

302,017

Operating loss before financing income/(expenses)
Financing income

2

61,399

Financing expenses

2

(153,357)

-

(268,283)

-

(153,357)

-

Loss from ordinary activities before income
tax expense
Income tax expense

3

Net loss after income tax

(1,376,824)

(1,312,743)

(3,541,362)

(1,286,355)

-

-

-

(1,376,824)

(1,312,743)

(3,541,362)

(1,286,355)

(1,376,824)

(1,112,743)

(3,541,362)

(1,286,355)

-

(200,000)

-

(1,376,824)

(1,312,743)

(3,541,362)

Cents

Cents

(0.49)

(0.42)

-

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent entity
Minority interests
Net loss after income tax

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share)

27

(1,286,355)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2007
CONSOLIDATED
NOTE

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

4

996,138

2,761,504

957,087

2,715,740

Trade and other receivables

5

49,290

81,863

49,290

81,863

Investments

6

Total Current Assets

-

287,850

-

287,850

1,045,428

3,131,217

1,006,377

3,085,453

24,306

25,094

17,728,993

15,468,168

335,540

335,540

30,058

51,153

Non-Current Assets
Receivables

7

Investments

8

-

-

Property, plant and equipment

9

1,775,037

500,599

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

10

16,425,904

15,431,936

-

-

Total Non-Current Assets

18,225,247

15,957,629

18,094,591

15,854,861

Total Assets

19,270,675

19,088,846

19,100,968

18,940,314

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables

11

427,261

743,356

402,391

732,358

Provisions

12

203,982

151,191

94,791

70,734

631,243

894,547

497,182

803,092

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Interest bearing loans

13

1,694,373

Borrowings

14

303,270

305,191

Provisions

12

196,101

307,913

83,631

208,136

Total Non-Current Liabilities

2,193,744

613,104

1,778,004

208,136

Total Liabilities

2,824,987

1,507,651

2,275,186

1,011,228

16,445,688

17,581,195

16,825,782

17,929,086

33,728,184

31,272,684

Net Assets

-

1,694,373
-

-

Equity
Contributed equity

15

33,728,184

31,272,684

Reserves

16

(2,347,728)

(133,545)

Accumulated losses

(14,934,768)

(13,557,944)

(16,902,402)

(13,361,040)

Total parent entity interest

16,445,688

17,581,195

16,825,782

17,929,086

-

-

-

-

16,445,688

17,581,195

16,825,782

17,929,086

Minority interests

17

Total Equity

-

17,442

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2007

Attributable to equity holders of the parent entity
Issued
capital

Accumulated
losses

Other
reserves

Total

$

$

$

$

28,981,632

(12,461,203)

Minority
interests

Total
equity

$

$

Consolidated
At 1 July 2005

(460,329)

16,060,100

Adjustment on initial adoption of
AASB 132 and AASB 139

-

16,002

-

16,002

Loss for the period

-

(1,112,743)

-

(1,112,743)

-

120,000

-

Issue of shares for services provided

120,000

Issue of shares for additional interest
in Siana project

2,171,052

-

Foreign currency translation reserve

-

-

309,342

Fair value reserve

-

-

At 30 June 2006

31,272,684

(13,557,944)

-

(1,376,824)

Loss for the period
Share placement
Issue of options for finance facility

-

200,000

(200,000)

16,260,100

16,002
(1,312,743)

-

120,000

2,171,052

-

2,171,052

309,342

-

309,342

17,442

17,442

-

17,442

(133,545)

17,581,195

-

17,581,195

-

(1,376,824)

-

(1,376,824)

2,068,000

-

-

2,068,000

-

2,068,000

387,500

-

-

387,500

-

387,500

Foreign currency translation reserve

-

-

(2,196,741)

(2,196,741)

-

(2,196,741)

Fair value reserve

-

-

(17,442)

(17,442)

-

(17,442)

At 30 June 2007

33,728,184

(14,934,768)

(2,347,728)

16,445,688

-

16,445,688

28,981,632

(12,074,685)

-

16,906,947

-

16,906,947

-

(1,286,355)

-

(1,286,355)

-

(1,286,355)

-

-

120,000

-

120,000

-

Parent
At 1 July 2005
Loss for the period
Issue of shares for services provided

120,000

Issue of shares for additional interest
in Siana project

2,171,052

-

2,171,052

-

2,171,052

Fair value reserve

-

-

17,442

17,442

-

17,442

At 30 June 2006

31,272,684

(13,361,040)

17,442

17,929,086

-

17,929,086

-

(3,541,362)

-

(3,541,362)

-

(3,541,362)

2,068,000

-

-

2,068,000

-

2,068,000

387,500

-

-

387,500

-

387,500

(17,442)

-

(17,442)

16,825,782

-

16,825,782

Loss for the period
Share placement
Issue of options for finance facility
Fair value reserve

-

-

At 30 June 2007

33,728,184

(16,902,402)

(17,442)
-

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2007
CONSOLIDATED
NOTE

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

(1,210,857)

(1,075,887)

(1,210,857)

(1,075,887)

59,187

301,229

59,187

301,229

(1,151,670)

(774,658)

(1,151,670)

(774,658)

Payments for exploration
and evaluation expenditure

(3,663,388)

(4,130,545)

(122,980)

(23,288)

Payments for plant and equipment

(1,300,685)

(7,695)

(5,152)

(7,695)

Cash flows from operating activities
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Net cash outflow from operating activities

25

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for deposit on plant and equipment

-

Payments for security deposit

-

Proceeds on sale of investments
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities

(449,446)
(24,306)

-

(24,306)

282,377

875,379

282,377

875,379

(4,681,696)

(3,736,613)

154,245

820,090

2,200,000

-

2,200,000

-

(132,000)

-

(132,000)

-

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issues of shares
Payments for share issue expenses
Loans to controlled entities

-

-

(4,829,228)

(4,517,472)

Proceeds from borrowings

2,000,000

-

2,000,000

-

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities

4,068,000

-

(761,228)

(4,517,472)

Net decrease in cash held

(1,765,366)

(4,511,271)

(1,758,653)

(4,472,040)

2,761,504

7,272,775

2,715,740

7,187,780

996,138

2,761,504

957,087

2,715,740

Cash at the beginning of the financial year
Cash at the end of the financial year

4

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007
1. Statement of Signiﬁcant Accounting Policies
1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

Basis of accounting
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001, applicable Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements.
The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis, with the exception of derivative financial instruments;
available for sale financial assets; and liabilities for cash-settled share-based payments, which are measured at fair value. The
financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of the parent entity. The financial report was
authorised for issue by the directors on the date of signing of the Directors’ Report.
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these results. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Corporations Act. International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) form the basis of Australian Accounting Standards adopted by the AASB and for the purposes
of this report are called Australian equivalents to IFRS (AIFRS) to distinguish from previous Australian GAAP. The consolidated
financial statements and notes also comply with IFRS and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

Financial position
The consolidated entity recorded a loss of $1,376,824 for the year ended 30 June 2007 and has net working capital of
$414,185 as at 30 June 2007. During the period, the bankable feasibility study for the development of the Siana project was
extended to include an assessment of the potential for an underground extension of gold mineralisation below an open pit
operation. An amount of $2.2 million (before expenses) was raised during the period through a private share placement of
22,000,000 shares at a subscription price of 10 cents each. In the next financial year, the consolidated entity intends to
progress the financing and development of the Siana project.
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis that the consolidated entity will continue to meet its commitments
and can therefore continue normal business activities as well as the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the
ordinary course of business. In arriving at this position, the directors have considered the following relevant matters:
– subsequent to the end of the year, the parent entity raised $1,188,000 before expenses through a private share placement
of 18,000,000 ordinary shares at a subscription price of 6.6 cents per share.
– the directors of the parent entity are progressing negotiations for debt and equity financing facilities for the development of
the Siana project and are investigating further funding initiatives to provide additional working capital.
The directors believe that at the date of signing the financial report there are reasonable grounds to believe that having regard
to the matters set out above, the consolidated entity will be able to raise sufficient funds to meet its obligations as and when
they fall due.
The financial report does not include any adjustment relating to the recoverability or classification of recorded asset amounts,
or to the amounts or classifications of liabilities that might be necessary should the consolidated entity not be able to continue
as a going concern.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial report incorporates the assets and liabilities of all entities controlled by Red 5 Limited as at
30 June 2007 and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. Red 5 Limited and its controlled entities together
are referred to in this financial report as the consolidated entity. The financial statements of controlled entities are prepared for
the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting policies. The effects of all transactions between
entities in the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.
Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial period, its results are included only from the date upon which control
commences. Where control of an entity ceases during a financial period, its results are included for that part of the period
during which control existed. Outside interests in equity and results of the entities which are controlled by the consolidated
entity are shown as a separate item in the consolidated financial statements.
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1.5

Finance income and expenses
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and
the revenue can be reliably measured. Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is
recognised as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method.
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings and amortisation of loan borrowing costs. Loan establishment
fees are amortised over the term of the loan.

1.6

Investments
Financial instruments are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being
recognised directly in equity, except for impairment losses and in the case of monetary items such as debt securities, foreign
exchange gains and losses. When these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised
directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Where these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement.
The fair value of financial instruments classified as held for trading and available-for-sale is their quoted bid price at balance
sheet date. Financial instruments available-for-sale are recognised or derecognised by the consolidated entity on the date
it commits to purchase or sell the investments.

1.7

Property, plant and equipment
All assets acquired, including property, plant and equipment and intangibles other than goodwill, are initially recorded at
their cost of acquisition, being the fair value of the consideration provided plus incidental costs directly attributable to the
acquisition.
Plant and equipment is included at cost less provision for depreciation and any impairment in value and depreciated using
a combination of the prime cost and diminishing value methods commencing from the time the asset is held ready for use.
The expected useful lives of plant and equipment are between 3 and 13 years.

1.8

Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Exploration and evaluation costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest. Exploration and evaluation
costs for each area of interest are carried forward where rights of tenure of the area of interest are current and the costs are
expected to be recouped through the successful development and exploitation of the area of interest, or by its sale, or
where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active and significant operations in
relation to the area are continuing.
Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment if sufficient data exists to determine technical feasibility
and commercial viability and facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.
For the purposes of impairment testing, exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash-generating units to which
the exploration activity relates. The cash generating unit cannot be larger than the area of interest.
Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the extraction of mineral resources in an area of interest are
demonstrable, exploration and evaluation assets attributable to that area of interest are first tested for impairment and
then reclassified to mining property and development assets within property, plant and equipment.

1.9

Impairment
At each reporting date, the consolidated entity assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where
an indicator of impairment exists, the consolidated entity makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless the asset has previously been revalued, in which
case the impairment loss is recognised as a reversal to the extent of that previous revaluation with any excess recognised
through the income statement.
Calculation of recoverable amount
Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. The estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.
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The recoverable amount of the consolidated entity’s investments in held-to-maturity securities and receivables carried at
amortised cost is calculated as the present value of the estimated cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
Receivables with a short duration are not discounted.

1.10 Income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax assets and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised. A deferred income tax asset
is not recognised where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance date and reduced to the extent it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax to be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted at the balance date. Income taxes
relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the income statement.

1.11 Financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other receivables, cash
and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings and trade and other creditors. Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised
initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below.
Liabilities for trade creditors and other amounts are carried at amortised cost. Trade payables are non interest bearing and are
normally settled on 30 day terms.
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes deposits at call which are readily convertible to cash on hand
and which are used in the cash management function on a day to day basis, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

1.12 Goods and services tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of goods and services tax (GST), except where the amount of GST
incurred is not recoverable. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense item.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable or payable is
included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet. Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross
basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable or payable are
classified as operating cash flows.

1.13 Employee benefits
Provision for employee entitlements represents the amount which the consolidated entity has a present obligation to pay
resulting from employees’ service provided up to the balance date.
Liabilities arising in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the balance date are
measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
All other employee benefit liabilities are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflow to be made in
respect of services provided by employees up to the balance date. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

1.14 Share based payments
The consolidated entity may provide benefits to employees (including directors) and other parties as necessary in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity settled
transactions”).
The cost of these equity settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date they are
granted. The value is determined using a binomial model. The cost of equity settled transactions is recognised, together with
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a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (“vesting date”).
The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects the extent
to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that, in the opinion of the directors, will ultimately vest.
No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is
included in the determination of fair value at grant date. No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition.
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

1.15 Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to Australian dollars at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in the income
statement. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated to Australian dollars at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
determined.
Financial statements of foreign operations
Each entity in the consolidated entity determines its functional currency, being the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates, reflecting the underlying transactions, events and conditions that are relevant to
the entity.
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation, are
translated from the entity’s functional currency to the consolidated entity’s presentation currency of Australian dollars at
foreign exchange rates ruling at reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to Australian
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are recognised directly in a separate component of equity.

1.16 Restoration costs
Full provision for restoration costs is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental
disturbance that has occurred up to the balance date. Increases due to additional environmental disturbances are capitalised
and amortised over the remaining lives of the operations. These increases are accounted for on a net present value basis.
Annual increases in the provision relating to the change in the net present value of the provision and inflationary increases are
accounted for in earnings as an interest expense. The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted as
appropriate for changes in legislation, technology or other circumstances.

1.17 Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the consolidated entity has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at the pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and where appropriate, the risk specific to the liability.

1.18 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing net operating results after income tax attributable to members of the parent
entity, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year.
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted
average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to potential ordinary shares.
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1.19 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
The following standards and amendments were available for early adoption at 30 June 2007 but have not been applied by the
consolidated entity in these financial statements:
–

AASB 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures (August 2005) replaces the presentation requirements of financial
instruments in AASB 132. AASB 7 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007,
and will require extensive additional disclosures with respect to financial instruments and share capital.

–

AASB 2005-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (September 2005) makes consequential amendments
to AASB132: Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation, AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements,
AASB 114: Segment Reporting, AASB 117: Leases, AASB: 133 Earnings Per Share, AASB 139: Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards, AASB 4: Insurance Contracts, AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts and AASB 1038: Life Insurance
Contracts arising from the release of AASB 7. AASB 2005-10 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2007 and is expected to only impact disclosures contained within the consolidated financial report.

–

AASB 8: Operating Segments replaces the presentation requirements of segment reporting in AASB 114: Segment
Reporting. AASB 8 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and is not expected to
have an impact on the financial results of the parent entity and the consolidated entity as the standard is only concerned
with disclosures.

–

AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8 makes amendments to AASB 5:
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, AASB 6: Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources, AASB 102: Inventories, AASB 107: Cash Flow Statements, AASB 119: Employee Benefits, AASB 127:
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 134: Interim Financial Reporting, AASB 136: Impairment Assets,
AASB 1023: General Insurance Contracts and AASB 1038: Life Insurance Contracts. AASB 2007-3 is applicable
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and must be adopted in conjunction with AASB 8:
Operating Segments. This standard is only expected to impact disclosures contained within the financial report.

–

Interpretation 10: Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment, prohibits the reversal of an impairment loss recognised in
a previous interim period in respect of goodwill, an investment in an equity instrument or financial asset carried at cost.
Interpretation 10 will become mandatory for the 2008 financial statements of the consolidated entity, and will apply to
goodwill, investments in equity instruments, and financial assets carried at cost prospectively from the date that the
consolidated entity first applied the measurement criteria of AASB 136 and AASB 139 respectively (i.e. 1 July 2004 and
1 July 2005 respectively).

–

Interpretation 11 AASB 2: Share-based Payment – Group and Treasury Share Transactions addresses the classification of
a share-based payment transaction (as equity or cash settled), in which equity instruments of the parent entity or another
group entity are transferred, in the financial statements of the entity receiving the services. Interpretation 11 will become
mandatory for the 2008 financial report. The potential effect on the Interpretation on the financial report of the
consolidated entity has not yet been determined.

–

AASB 2007-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation II amends AASB 2:
Share-based Payments to insert the transitional provisions of IFRS 2, previously contained in AASB 1: First-time Adoption
of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards. AASB 2007-1 is applicable for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 March 2007. The potential impact on the financial report has not yet been determined.

–

AASB 2007-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 12 makes amendments
to AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards, AASB 117: Leases,
AASB 118: Revenue, AASB 120: Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure for Government Assistance, AASB
121: The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statement,
AASB 131: Interest in Joint Ventures, and AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. AASB 2007-2
is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2008 and must be applied at the same time as
Interpretation 12 Service Concession Arrangements.

–

AASB 2007-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards also amends references to “UIG Interpretation” to
interpretations. This amending standard is applicable to annual reporting periods ending on or after 28 February 2007.

The AASB has released AASB 2007-4: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Arising From ED151 and Other
Amendments, with the purpose, that in principle all options that currently exist under IFRS should be included in the Australian
equivalents to IFRS and additional Australian disclosures should be eliminated, other than those particularly relevant in the
Australian reporting environment. The amending standard removes many, but not all of the differences between IFRS and
current AIFRS.
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CONSOLIDATED

2.
(a)

2007

2006

$

$

$

11,969

15,365

11,969

15,365

42,922

96,373

42,922

96,373

Employee and consultancy expenses

Superannuation contributions
Other employee benefits and consultancy expenses

38,376

43,459

38,376

43,459

646,501

674,256

646,501

674,256

727,799

814,088

727,799

814,088

59,478

302,017

59,478

302,017

1,921

1,653

Financing income/(expenses)
Finance revenue - interest received
Other financing gains

(d)

2006

$

Other income

Provision for employee entitlements

(c)

2007

Revenue and Expenses
Gain on sale of investments

(b)

PARENT ENTITY

-

-

Amortisation of loan establishment fees

(90,000)

-

(90,000)

-

Interest paid

(31,873)

-

(31,873)

-

Other financing expenses

(31,484)

-

(31,484)

-

(91,958)

303,670

(93,879)

302,017

100,130

88,391

100,130

88,391

(338,850)

(384,914)

(339,427)

(296,947)

338,850

384,914

339,427

296,947

Operating lease payments
Rental and outgoings relating to operating lease

3.

Income Tax

(a)

The major components of income tax expense are:
Income statement
Current income tax
Current income tax charge
Deferred income tax
Unused tax losses not recognised as deferred tax asset

-
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CONSOLIDATED
2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

(1,376,824)

(1,312,743)

(3,541,362)

(1,286,355)

(413,047)

(393,823)

(1,062,409)

(385,906)

3 (a) Continued

(b)

(c)

PARENT ENTITY

A reconciliation between income tax expense and the numerical loss before
income tax at the applicable income tax rate is as follows:
Loss before income tax
At statutory income tax rate of 30% (2006: 30%)
Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes:
Impairment in investments

-

-

Foreign currency translation adjustment

-

-

Non-deductible expenses
Other deductible items

Current year tax losses not brought to account

74,197
-

7,873
1,036

648,785
74,197
-

80,485
7,438
1,036

(338,850)

(384,914)

(339,427)

(296,947)

338,850

384,914

339,427

296,947

Income tax expense

-

-

-

-

Income tax payable

-

-

-

-

4,944,405

4,629,581

-

-

4,944,405

4,629,581

-

-

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax at balance date relates to the following:
Deferred tax liabilities
Capitalised expenditure

Deferred tax assets
Accrued expenses
Provisions
Tax value of losses recognised
Non-recognition of deferred taxes

Net deferred income tax balances

2,002

7,050

21,577

7,050

911,334

167,598

844,836

167,598

4,031,069

4,454,933

-

-

4,944,405

4,629,581

-

-

-

-

-

-

(866,413)

(174,648)

Tax losses
The directors estimate that the potential deferred tax
assets in respect of tax losses not brought to account is:

1,228,642

913,821

1,196,514

881,737

The potential benefit of tax losses has not been brought to account in this financial report as realisation of the benefit cannot
be regarded as probable. The potential future income tax benefit will be obtainable by the consolidated entity only if:
(a) the consolidated entity derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit
of the deductions for the loss to be realised;
(b) the consolidated entity complies with the conditions for deductibility imposed by income tax law; and
(c) no changes in income tax legislation adversely affects the consolidated entity in realising the benefit of the deduction
for the loss.
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PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

Current Assets
4.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank
Cash on deposit

68,395

126,020

29,605

80,517

927,282

2,635,023

927,282

2,635,023

461

461

200

200

996,138

2,761,504

957,087

2,715,740

49,290

81,863

49,290

81,863

Cash on hand

5.

Trade and Other Receivables
Sundry debtors - other corporations

6.

Investments
Shares in other corporations – available for sale

-

287,850

-

287,850

Non-Current Assets
7.

Receivables
Security deposit

24,306

25,094

24,306

25,094

Unsecured loans - wholly owned controlled entities

-

-

22,078,038

17,653,077

Foreign currency translation adjustment

-

-

(2,266,436)

(103,819)

Allowance for doubtful recovery

-

-

(2,106,915)

(2,106,184)

-

-

17,704,687

15,443,074

17,728,993

15,468,168

24,306

25,094

Security deposits represent funds held on deposit as security against a bank guarantee.
Unsecured loans to controlled entities are interest free and are repayable on demand. The parent entity is not expected to
request repayment within the next 12 months.

8.

Investments
Shares in controlled entities - at cost

-

-

1,203,823

1,203,823

Less allowance for impairment

-

-

(868,283)

(868,283)

-

-

335,540

335,540
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9.

CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

Property, Plant and Equipment
Office furniture and equipment - at cost
Opening balance
Additions
Deposit for plant and equipment
Plant and equipment impairment
Closing balance

578,631
1,300,685
(10,576)

121,490

129,185

121,490

7,695

5,152

7,695

-

-

449,446
-

(10,576)

-

1,868,740

578,631

123,761

129,185

Opening balance

78,032

46,523

78,032

46,523

Depreciation for the year

25,418

31,509

25,418

31,509

Plant and equipment impairment

(9,747)

Accumulated depreciation

Closing balance
Net book value

-

(9,747)

-

93,703

78,032

93,703

78,032

1,775,037

500,599

30,058

51,153

10. Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure
Opening balance
Acquisition costs
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred
in current year
Exploration expenditure written-off
Foreign currency translation adjustment

15,431,936

9,051,016

-

5,776

-

2,171,053

-

-

3,291,614

4,794,383

100,174

(3,453)

(100,174)

(2,323)

(100,905)

(413,974)

(2,196,741)

(170,542)

-

-

16,425,904

15,431,936

-

-

The ultimate recoupment of deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward is dependent upon the successful
development and exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respective areas of interest at an amount greater than or equal to the
carrying value.

Current Liabilities
11. Trade and Other Payables
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Sundry creditors and accruals

427,261

743,356

402,391

732,358
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PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

12. Provisions
(a)

Provision for employee entitlements
Balance at 1 July 2006
Increase in provision during the period
Transfer of provision to controlled entity
Net present value discount adjustment

(b)

317,294

156,728

137,060

156,728

84,349

164,402

42,922

78,398

-

-

-

(94,230)

(1,560)

(3,836)

(1,560)

(3,836)

400,083

317,294

178,422

137,060

141,810

120,000

141,810

120,000

Provision for retirement benefits
Balance at 1 July 2006
Increase in provision during the period
Provision used during the period
Net present value discount adjustment

(150,000)
8,190

30,000
(8,190)

(150,000)
8,190
-

30,000
(8,190)

-

141,810

141,810

Total provisions

400,083

459,104

178,422

278,870

Current

203,982

151,191

94,791

70,734

Non-current

196,101

307,913

83,631

208,136

400,083

459,104

178,422

278,870

Non-Current Liabilities
13. Interest Bearing Liabilities
Secured loan – other corporation

Less loan establishment fee
Accumulated amortisation

2,031,873

-

2,031,873

-

(427,500)

-

(427,500)

-

90,000

-

90,000

-

(337,500)

-

(337,500)

-

1,694,373

-

1,694,373

-

The loan due to other corporation is secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the parent
entity. The loan is repayable on the earlier of 31 December 2009 or the date that debt funding is first provided to the
consolidated entity for the development of the Siana project.
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CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

-

-

14. Borrowings
Unsecured loans – other corporations

303,270

305,191

Loans due to other corporations are unsecured and interest free and are repayable six months after the occurrence of specified
events, including shareholders funds of a controlled entity exceeding specified levels or commencement of gold production.

15. Contributed Equity
(a)

(b)

(c)
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Share capital
291,288,043 (2006: 269,288,043) ordinary
fully paid shares
12,500,000 (2006: Nil) options over fully paid shares

33,340,684
387,500
33,728,184

Movements in ordinary share capital
Opening balance 1 July 2006
Share placement
Less share issue expenses
Balance 30 June 2007

31,272,684
31,272,684

33,340,684
387,500
33,728,184

Shares

31,272,684
31,272,684
Consolidated
2007
$

269,288,043

31,272,684

22,000,000

2,200,000

291,288,043

(132,000)
33,340,684

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and proceeds on the winding up of the parent entity in proportion
to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a
meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.

Movements in share options

Options

$

Opening balance 1 July 2006

-

-

Issue of options for finance facility

12,500,000

387,500

Balance 30 June 2007

12,500,000

387,500

Options are exercisable at 17 cents each on or before 30 June 2008. The options were issued to a financial institution as part
consideration for the provision of a finance facility to the parent entity. Following issue of the options, an error was identified
in the loan documentation which stated an incorrect expiry date of 30 June 2008 for the options. The parent entity has
undertaken to seek the approval of shareholders to amend the expiry date of the options to the correct date of 30 June 2009.
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CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

16. Reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
Fair value reserve

(2,347,728)
(2,347,728)

(150,987)

-

17,442

-

17,442

-

(133,545)

-

17,442

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations where the functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the reporting entity, as well
as from the translation of liabilities that hedge the parent entity’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary.
Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale investments until the
investment is derecognised.

17. Minority Interests
Interest in:
Share capital
Accumulated losses

268,283

268,283

-

-

(268,283)

(268,283)

-

-

-

-

-

-

18. Key Management Personnel Disclosures
The following were key management personnel of the consolidated entity at any time during the reporting period and unless
otherwise indicated, were key management personnel for the entire reporting period:

Executive directors
Gregory Edwards – Managing Director
Allen Govey – Exploration Director

Non-executive directors
Colin Jackson
Peter Rowe
Gary Scanlan (appointed on 23 November 2006)
Nicholas Smith (resigned on 30 April 2007)
There are no individuals (other than the directors) who are responsible for the strategic direction and management of the
consolidated entity. There were no changes to key management personnel between the reporting date and the date the
financial report was authorised for issue.
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18.
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CONSOLIDATED

Continued

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

Compensation of key management personnel
A summary of the compensation of key management personnel is as follows:
Key management personnel
Short term benefits

797,261

937,524

515,030

578,605

Post-employment benefits

55,415

82,286

31,687

56,799

Other benefits

28,000

28,250

28,000

28,250

880,676

1,048,060

574,717

663,654

The parent entity has applied the exemption under Corporations Amendments Regulation 2006 which exempts listed
companies from providing remuneration disclosures in relation to key management personnel in annual financial reports by
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. These remuneration disclosures are provided in the section of the
Remuneration Report of the Directors’ Report designated as audited.

Loans to key management personnel
There were no loans to key management personnel during the period.

Other transactions with directors
Other than as disclosed above, there were no specific transactions during the year between the consolidated entity and
directors or their director-related entities.

Share holdings of key management personnel
The numbers of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by key management personnel, including their
personally-related entities, are set out below.
Balance at
1 July 2006

Received during the
year on the exercise
of options

Other changes
during the year

G C Edwards

7,500,000

-

-

7,500,000

A L Govey

6,786,500

-

-

6,786,500

225,000

225,000

2007

C G Jackson

Balance at
30 June 2007

-

-

P W Rowe

-

-

-

-

G F Scanlan

-

-

-

-

-

-

N J Smith

509,500

509,500

Shareholdings for Mr Smith are up to the date of resignation as a director on 30 April 2007.
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18.

Continued
Balance at
1 July 2005

Received during the
year on the exercise
of options

Other changes
during the year

G C Edwards

7,500,000

-

-

7,500,000

A L Govey

6,786,500

-

-

6,786,500

225,000

-

-

225,000

-

-

-

-

2006

C G Jackson
P W Rowe
N J Smith

509,500

Balance at
30 June 2006

509,500

Option holdings
No options over fully paid shares in the parent entity were held during the financial year by any director of the parent entity, or
their personally-related entities. In the previous financial year, 2,000,000 unlisted options held by a former director, Mr
Nicholas Smith, expired during the period without being exercised.
CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

19. Remuneration of Auditor
Amounts paid or due and payable to the auditor for:
Auditing and reviewing the financial reports

45,347

43,882

45,347

43,882

Taxation advisory services – KPMG Australia

40,000

15,500

40,000

15,500

– overseas KPMG firms

-

9,662

-

9,662

85,347

69,044

85,347

69,044

– not later than one year

75,506

70,800

75,506

70,800

– later than one year but not later than two years

56,630

70,800

56,630

70,800

20. Expenditure Commitments
Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating
leases are payable as follows:

– later than two years but not later than five years

132,136
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194,700

132,136
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21. Segment Information
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The operations of the consolidated entity are located within Australia, the Philippines and Central Asia (the primary
reportable segment) and it is involved in mineral exploration and evaluation activities on mining tenements (the secondary
reportable segment).
Geographical segments

Australia

Philippines

Central Asia

Consolidated

$

$

$

$

30 June 2007
Revenue from ordinary activities

61,399

-

-

61,399

Revenue from other activities

11,969

-

-

11,969

Total segment revenue

73,368

-

-

73,368

Amortisation and depreciation expenses

25,418

-

-

25,418

Exploration expenditure written-off

100,905

-

-

100,905

Acquisition of plant and equipment

5,152

1,295,533

-

1,300,685

(1,346,083)

(30,741)

-

(1,376,824)

Segment loss
Income tax expense
Net loss

-

-

-

-

-

(1,376,824)

(1,346,083)

(30,741)

Segment assets

1,422,003

18,185,911

261

19,608,175

Segment liabilities

2,493,723

650,366

18,398

3,162,487

Net cash flow from operating activities

(1,151,670)

-

-

(1,151,670)

303,670

-

-

303,670

30 June 2006
Revenue from ordinary activities
Revenue from other activities

15,365

-

-

15,365

319,035

-

-

319,035

Amortisation and depreciation expenses

31,509

-

-

31,509

Exploration expenditure written-off

13,974

-

400,000

413,974

Acquisition of plant and equipment

7,695

-

-

Total segment revenue

Segment loss
Income tax expense
Net loss
Segment assets
Segment liabilities
Net cash flow from operating activities

(899,907)
-

(12,836)
-

7,695

(400,000)

(1,312,743)

-

-

(899,907)

(12,836)

(400,000)

(1,312,743)

3,185,462

15,903,123

261

19,088,846

434,743

1,021,704

51,204

1,507,651

(774,658)

-

-

(774,658)
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22. Related Parties
Transactions with related parties in the wholly owned group
During the financial year, unsecured loan advances were made between the parent entity and its controlled entities. All such
loans were interest free. Loan balances between the parent entity and its controlled entities are disclosed in the financial
report of the parent entity. Intra-entity loan balances have been eliminated in the financial report of the consolidated entity.
The ownership interests in related parties in the wholly owned group are set out in Note 24.
Other transactions with directors and specified executives are set out in Note 18.

23. Financial Instruments
Financial risk management objectives and policies
The principal financial instruments of the consolidated entity, other than financial assets held for sale, are cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide finance for the operations of the consolidated entity.
The consolidated entity holds various other financial assets and liabilities including receivables and trade payables, which arise
directly from its operations. The main risks arising from the consolidated entity’s financial instruments are foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk and credit risk. The directors of the parent entity review management of each of these risks.
(a) Foreign currency risk
As a result of its operations in the Philippines, the balance sheet of the consolidated entity can be significantly affected
by movements in the US$:A$ exchange rate. The consolidated entity does not seek to hedge this exposure as revenue
and expenses from production will both be predominantly in US$.
(b) Credit risk exposure
Credit risk relates to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the consolidated entity. The exposure of the consolidated entity to credit risk at balance date in relation to each class
of recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of the assets as indicated in the balance sheet.
(c) Net fair values
The fair values of all financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values as indicated in the balance sheet.
(d) Interest rate risk exposure
Interest rate risk represents the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
interest rates. The exposure of the consolidated entity to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate
for classes of financial assets and liabilities is set out on the next page.

Red 5 Limited FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2007

41

For personal use only

Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2007
23.
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Continued

30 June 2007

Fixed interest maturing in:
Floating
interest
rate

1 year
or less

Between
1 to 2 years

Non-interest
bearing

Total

$

$

$

$

$

55,819

939,858

-

461

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

Effective interest rate

996,138

-

24,306

-

49,290

73,596

55,819

964,164

-

49,751

1,069,734

1.17%

6.22%

Financial liabilities
Payables

-

-

-

427,261

427,261

Provisions

-

-

-

400,083

400,083

Interest bearing loans
Borrowings

1,694,373
1,694,373

Effective interest rate

-

-

-

-

-

303,270

1,694,373
303,270

-

-

1,130,614

2,824,987

-

461

2,761,504

8.97%

30 June 2006
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

126,020
126,020

Effective interest rate

1.85%

2,635,023
25,094

-

81,863

106,957

2,660,117

-

82,324

2,868,461

5.73%

Financial liabilities
Payables

-

-

-

743,356

743,356

Provisions

-

-

-

459,104

459,104

Borrowings

-

-

-

305,191

305,191

-

-

-

1,507,651

1,507,651
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24. Investments in Controlled Entities
Name of controlled entities

Asia Gold Limited

Country of
incorporation

Class of shares

Equity holding
2007

2006

%

%

United Kingdom

Ordinary

50

50

Bremer Resources Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Estuary Resources Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Greenstone Resources (WA) Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Oakborough Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Opus Resources Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Red 5 Philippines Pty Ltd

Australia

Ordinary

100

100

Bremer Binaliw Corporation

Philippines

Ordinary

100

100

Greenstone Resources Corporation

Philippines

Ordinary

100

100

Bremer Binaliw Corporation is a wholly owned subsidiary company of Bremer Resources Pty Ltd.
CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

25. Reconciliation of Net Cash Outﬂow from Operating Activities to
Operating Loss After Income Tax
Net cash outflow from operating activities

(1,151,670)

(774,658)

(1,151,670)

(774,658)

Amortisation and depreciation

(115,418)

(31,509)

(115,418)

(31,509)

Exploration expenditure written-off

(100,905)

(413,974)

(100,174)

(2,323)

Impairment of investments

-

-

Impairment of loans

-

-

Profit on sale of investments

11,969

Plant and equipment written-off
Translation loss on loan to controlled entity

(829)
-

15,365

-

(268,283)
(731)

(11,508)

11,969

15,365

-

(829)

-

-

(2,162,617)

(103,819)

(2,845)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in receivables

(14,159)

(2,845)

(14,159)

Increase/(decrease) in other assets

40,000

-

40,000

(Increase)/decrease in payables

(41,308)

(10,402)

(41,308)

(10,402)

(Increase)/decrease in provisions

27,369

(94,720)

25,448

(96,373)

(Increase)/decrease in other liabilities

(31,873)

Operating loss after income tax
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(31,873)
(3,541,362)

-

(1,286,355)
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CONSOLIDATED

PARENT ENTITY

2007

2006

2007

2006

$

$

$

$

26. Non Cash Financing and Investing Activities
Issue of options for finance facility

387,500

-

387,500

-

Issue of shares for purchase of an additional
beneficial interest in the Siana project

-

2,171,052

-

2,171,052

Issue of shares for technical and financial
advisory services

-

120,000

-

120,000

387,500

2,291,052

281,222,290

266,552,368

387,500

2,291,052

27. Earnings Per Share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares on issue
used in the calculation of basic earnings per share

The potential ordinary shares existing as at balance date are not dilutive, therefore diluted earnings per share has not been
calculated or disclosed.
The following movements in ordinary shares occurred subsequent to balance date:
– share placement of 18,000,000 ordinary shares.

28. Subsequent Events

44

In August 2007, the parent entity raised $1,188,000 before expenses through a private share placement of 18,000,000
ordinary shares at a subscription price of 6.6 cents per share.
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Declaration by Directors
The Board of Directors of Red 5 Limited declares that:
(a)

the financial statements and accompanying notes and the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration
Report in the Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
–

giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2007 and performance of the parent entity and the
consolidated entity for the financial year ended on that date; and

–

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b)

the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report comply with Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures; and

(c)

at the date of this declaration and as set out in Note 1.3, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the parent entity will be
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has received the declaration by the managing director and chief financial officer required by Section 295A
of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

A L Govey
Director
Perth, Western Australia
27 September 2007
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Independent Audit Report
Independent auditor’s report to members of Red 5 Limited
Report on the financial report and AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Red 5 Ltd (the Company), which comprises the balance sheets as at
30 June 2007, and the income statements, statements of changes in equity and cash flow statements for the year ended on that
date, a description of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration of the Group
comprising the Company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.
As permitted by the Corporations Regulations 2001, the Company has disclosed information about the remuneration of directors
and executives (remuneration disclosures), required by Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, under
the heading “Remuneration report” in pages 17 to 19 of the directors’ report and not in the financial report. We have audited these
remuneration disclosures.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial report and the AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.
This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. In note 1, the directors also state, in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial report, comprising the
financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards.
The directors of the Company are also responsible for the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement. Our responsibility is also to express an opinion on the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
based on our audit.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report and the
remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the
directors’ report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’
report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial report and the remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report.
We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in accordance with the
Corporations Act 2001 and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations), a view which is
consistent with our understanding of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position and of their performance and whether the
remuneration disclosures are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Auditor’s opinion on the financial report
In our opinion:
(a)

(b)

46

the financial report of Red 5 Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2007 and of their performance
for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Regulations 2001.

the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 1.
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Auditor’s opinion on AASB 124 remuneration disclosures contained in the directors’ report
In our opinion the remuneration disclosures that are contained in pages 17 to 19 of the directors’ report comply with Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures.
Inherent uncertainty regarding continuation as a going concern
Without qualification to the opinion expressed above, attention is drawn to the following matter. As a result of the matters described
in Note 1, there is significant uncertainty whether the entity will be able to continue as a going concern and therefore whether it will
realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report.
KPMG
B C FULLARTON
Partner
Perth, 28 September 2007
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Corporate
Governance Statement
A description of Red 5’s main corporate governance practices is set out below. These practices, unless otherwise stated, were in
place for the entire financial year. Copies of relevant corporate governance policies are available in the corporate governance section
of the Company’s web-site at www.red5limited.com.
The Company’s Board and management are committed to a high standard of corporate governance practices. Good corporate
governance will evolve with the changing circumstances of a company and must be tailored to meet these circumstances.
Red 5 is an exploration and development company which currently operates with a limited number of permanent staff.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Role of the Board
The Board has the responsibility for protecting the rights and interests of shareholders and the enhancement of long-term
shareholder value. The Board charter states that the Board is responsible for:
n

the corporate governance of the Company;

n

the overall strategic direction and leadership of the Company;

n

approving and monitoring management implementation of objectives and strategies; and

n

reviewing performance against stated objectives by receiving regular management reports on the business situation,
opportunities and risks.

Structure of the Board
The Company has a five member Board comprising two executive directors and three non-executive directors, including the
Chairman. The roles of Chairman and Managing Director are not combined. Messrs Edwards and Govey are not considered
independent by virtue of their executive roles in the Company, neither is Mr Jackson by virtue of financial remuneration during the
year. Mr Rowe represents one of the Company’s major shareholders and is therefore deemed not to be independent. Mr Scanlan
is an independent non-executive director.
Board members should possess complementary business disciplines and experience aligned with the Company’s objectives.
At various times there may not be a majority of directors classified as being independent, according to ASX guidelines. Where any
director has a material personal interest in a matter, the director is not permitted to be present during discussions or to vote on the
matter. Details of the experience, qualifications and term of office of directors are set out in the Directors’ Report.
Financial materiality thresholds used in the assessment of directors’ independence are set at 5% of the annual gross expenditure
of the Company and/or 25% of the annual income or business turnover of the director. Having regard to the structure of the Board
and of executive management, it is considered appropriate by the Board to effectively utilise the Chairman’s skills as a consultant
to provide crucial peer review of the corporate and commercial aspects of the Company’s operations.
Each director is entitled to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in carrying out their duties. Prior written
approval of the Chairman is required, but will not be unreasonably withheld.
The audit committee comprises the three non-executive directors of the Company, with Mr Scanlan as chairman. The remuneration
committee also comprises the three non-executive directors, with Mr Rowe as chairman. Details of the qualifications of committee
members and attendance at committee meetings are set out in the Directors’ Report.
The current size of the full Board permits it to act as the nomination committee and to regularly review membership. The Board will
give consideration at an appropriate time in the Company’s development, to the creation of a separate nomination committee.
The Board has adopted a formal process for an annual self assessment of its collective performance, the performance of individual
directors and of Board committees. The Board is required to meet annually with the purpose of reviewing the role of the Board,
assessing its performance over the previous 12 months and examining ways in which the Board can better perform its duties.
A formal assessment was undertaken during the year, using a self-assessment checklist as the basis for evaluation of performance
against the requirements of the Board charter.
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AUDIT PROCESSES AND POLICIES
The Board is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of a framework of internal control and appropriate ethical
standards for the management of the Company. The responsibilities of the audit committee include:
n

reviewing and approving statutory financial reports and all other financial information distributed externally;

n

monitoring the effective operation of the risk management and compliance framework;

n

reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control environment including compliance with applicable laws
and regulations;

n

the nomination of the external auditors and the review of the adequacy of the existing external audit arrangements; and

n

considering whether non-audit services provided by the external auditor are consistent with maintaining the external
auditor’s independence.

The external auditors, KPMG, have engagement terms refreshed annually and provide an annual declaration of their independence
to the Board. KPMG were appointed as auditors in 1998. The current engagement partner has conducted the audit since 2003 with
rotation to occur in the forthcoming financial year.

SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING
The audit committee is responsible for reviewing and reporting to the Board on the Company’s financial reports and external audit
processes. The Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer provide a certification to the Board on the integrity of the Company’s
external financial reports.
The Board does not specifically require an additional certification that the financial statements are founded on sound risk management
systems and that compliance and control systems are operating efficiently and effectively. The Board considers that risk management
and internal compliance and control systems are sufficiently robust for the Board to place reliance on the integrity of the financial
statements without the need for an additional certification by management.

RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS AND STAKEHOLDERS
The Board has adopted communications strategies and practices to promote communication with shareholders and to encourage
effective participation at general meetings. The external auditors attend annual general meetings and are available to answer
shareholder questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report. The Board has also
established a code of conduct to guide compliance with the legitimate interests of all stakeholders.

TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURES
The Board endorses a culture in favour of continuous disclosure and recognises the benefits of consistency to be achieved through
a dedicated communications officer and authorised spokesperson. This is complemented by the National Investor Relations Institute
(USA) “Code of Ethics” which amongst other elements demands the timely communication of information, whether favourable
or unfavourable to the Company.
Material information is lodged immediately with the ASX and then disseminated by posting to the web-site. Shareholders, potential
investors and interested parties can avail themselves of an email alert facility. A strict protocol is practiced for all investor/analyst/
media meetings, group briefings and conference calls.

DEALINGS IN COMPANY SHARES
The Company’s share trading policy prohibits the purchase or disposal of shares by directors, officers and employees in the period
of two weeks prior to the release of quarterly reports and four weeks prior to the release of half year and full year results and for one
business day thereafter. Any transactions to be undertaken must be notified to the Chairman or Managing Director in advance.
Directors must also advise the Company of any transactions conducted by them in the shares of the Company.

REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY
The remuneration committee operates in accordance with a formal written charter. The committee advises the Board on
remuneration and incentive policies and practices generally and makes specific recommendations in relation to compensation
arrangements for executive and non-executive directors and in respect of all equity based remuneration plans. Details of the
Company’s remuneration policies are set out in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors’ Report.
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Statement of Shareholders
The following information was reflected in the records of the Company as at 27 September 2007.
Distribution of share and option holders

Number of holders
Fully paid shares

Unlisted options

1

-

1,000

30

-

1,001

-

5,000

99

-

5,001

-

10,000

199

-

10,001

-

100,000

750

-

100,001

and over

Including holdings of less than a marketable parcel

284

1

1,362

1

91

Classes of shares and voting rights
At meetings of members or classes of members, each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy or attorney. On a
show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote, and on a poll, every
person present in person or by proxy has one vote for each ordinary share held.

Twenty largest holders of fully paid shares
Shareholder

50

Shares

%

1.

ANZ Nominees Limited

59,391,465

19.20

2.

AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited

37,833,945

12.23

3.

Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Ltd

9,600,000

3.10

4.

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

7,978,570

2.58

5.

Allen Lance Govey

6,135,000

1.98

6.

Gregory Charles Edwards

6,105,000

1.97

7.

Merrill Crowe Corporation

5,609,955

1.81

8.

Breamlea Pty Ltd (J&E MacDonald Account)

5,000,000

1.62

9.

RBC Dexia Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Ltd

5,000,000

1.62

10.

Berne No. 132 Nominees Pty Ltd

4,203,000

1.36

11.

Kim Robinson

4,000,000

1.29

12.

Kim Robinson and Jennifer Robinson

3,472,916

1.12

13.

Halb Nominees Limited

2,830,000

0.92

14.

Bruce Neville Tomich (Tomich Family Fund Account)

2,703,000

0.87

15.

Abbotsleigh Pty Ltd

2,568,000

0.83

16.

Nalmor Pty Ltd

2,500,000

0.81

17.

Darley Pty Ltd

2,500,000

0.81

18.

Jeffrey Brookman & Barbara Brookman

2,500,000

0.81

19.

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

2,350,000

0.76

20.

AngloGold Ashanti Limited

2,337,930

0.76

174,618,781

56.45
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Substantial shareholders
The following shareholders have lodged a notice of substantial shareholding in the Company.

Shareholder

Number of shares

%

Mathews Capital Partners – Sabre Fund

46,532,799

15.05

AngloGold Ashanti Australia Limited

37,833,945

12.23

Unquoted securities
The following classes of unquoted securities are on issue:
Holders of greater than 20% of each class of security
Security

Number on issue

Name of holder

Number

%

12,500,000

Societe Generale Australia Branch

12,500,000

100.00

Options over fully paid shares exercisable:
– at 17 cents each on or before 30.06.08
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Investor Information
Announcements
The Company makes both statutory announcements (Activities or quarterly reports, financial reports, Appendix 5B cash statements,
changes to Directors’ interests) and specific announcements under Continuous Disclosure provisions on a timely basis. Significant
announcements made during the financial year include:
Release date

Announcement subject

Release date

Announcement subject

27/07/2006

Siana gold and silver grade intersection

23/11/2006

Chairman’s AGM Address to Shareholders

26/07/2006

Change in substantial holding

23/11/2006

Results of annual general meeting

31/07/2006

Fourth Quarter Activities and Cash flow Report

24/11/2006

New Board Member Appointment

30/08/2006

New Siana Drill Results

04/12/2006

$2.2 million Placement

18/09/2006

AngloGold Ashanti exercises Outer Siana JV option

31/01/2007

Second Quarter Activities and Cash flow Report

26/09/2006

Presentation – Asia Pacific Down Under Conference

08/02/2007

Mineralised Porphyry Intersected at Siana

29/09/2006

Financial Report year ended 30/06/2006

15/3/2007

Half Year Accounts

24/10/2006

Annual Report

17/04/2007

Positive Fundamentals for Siana Open Pit

27/10/2006

Siana drilling results

23/04/2007

20/10/2006

Interim financing facility

Best zinc grade results in
Siana underground extension

31/10/2006

First Quarter Activities and Cash flow Report

30/04/2007

Retirement of Chairman

23/11/2006

Significant New South Extension at Siana

30/04/2007

Third Quarter Activities and Cash flow Report

Share Price Movements
Share price ranges on the Australian Securities Exchange during the 2006-2007 year were:
Quarter Ended

High (cents)

Low (cents)

September 2006

17.0

8.6

December 2006

12.0

9.5

March 2007

12.0

9.1

June 2007

13.0

8.7

The closing share price on 30 June 2007 and on the date of this report was 8.8 cents (9.0 cents 2006) and 10.0 cents
(11.0 cents 2006) respectively.

Investor Relations
This annual report has been produced with the objective of ensuring that shareholders are informed on company strategy
and performance sufficient to make or retain an investment in the Company.
Announcements, statutory reports and the latest information on the Company ‘s projects are available on the Red 5 Limited
website www.red5limited.com
Financial institutions, stockbrokers and other non-shareholder entities requiring copies of this report, Activities Reports and
other corporate information should contact the Directors at:
Red 5 Limited
Level 2,
35 Ventnor Avenue
West Perth
Western Australia 6005
Telephone: (61-8) 9322 4455
Facsimile: (61-8) 9481 5950

Shareholder Enquiries
Enquiries relating to shareholding, tax file number and notification of change of address should be directed to:
Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd
770 Canning Highway
Applecross WA 6153
Telephone: (61-8) 9315 2333
Facsimile: (61-8) 9315 2233
Email:
registrar@securitytransfer.com.au
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IBC

A bankable feasibility study (open pit followed by an
underground mine, and modern gravity and carbon-in-leach
treatment plant) is complete. Discussions with ﬁnanciers
are advanced.
Recent exploration has identiﬁed consistent moderate grade
zinc mineralisation from approximately 250 metres vertical.
AngloGold Ashanti, under a strategic alliance has elected to
proceed to joint ventures on two tenements areas, namely
Outer Siana and Mapawa. They may earn up to a 75 percent
interest from Red 5 through staged exploration expenditure
on each totaling US$10.5 million.

Sphalerite
(Zinc)

Chalcopyrite
(Copper)

Inclusions –
Galena (Lead)
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Corporate profile

Board of Directors

Bankers

Colin G Jackson
(Chairman)
Gregory C Edwards (Managing Director)
Allen L Govey
(Exploration Director)
Peter W Rowe
Gary F Scanlan

Bank of New Zealand, Australia

Auditors
KPMG

Solicitors

Company Secretary

Pullinger Readhead Lucas
Quisumbing Torres

Frank J Campagna

Registered Office

(Australia)
(Philippines)

Stock Exchange Listing

Level 2
35 Ventnor Avenue
West Perth
Western Australia 6005
Telephone: (61-8) 9322 4455
Facsimile: (61-8) 9481 5950
E-mail:
info@red5limited.com
Web-site: www.red5limited.com

Shares in Red 5 Limited are quoted on ASX Limited.
ASX code: RED

Share Registry
Security Transfer Registrars Pty Ltd
770 Canning Highway
Applecross WA 6153
Telephone: (61-8) 9315 2333
Facsimile: (61-8) 9315 2233
E-mail
registrar@securitytransfer.com.au
Web-site: www.securitytransfer.com.au

Tenement Directory
Project
Philippines
Siana gold project
Western Australia
Montague

Tenement number

Beneficial interest or joint venture details

MPSA 184-2002-XIII
APSA 46-XIII
APSA 30-XIII (Mapawa)

90% beneficial interest
Right to earn an 80% interest
Right to earn an 80% interest

ELA57/561
ML57/429, ML57/485

25% free carried
25% free carried

Abbreviations
ELA
ML

Exploration Licence Application
Mining Lease
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MPSA
APSA

Mineral Production Sharing Agreement
Application for MPSA
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PHILIPPINES
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location
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Mapawa
Gold Deposit

Siana
Gold Project

Lake Mainit

Lake Mainit

